RECEIVED

12-28-2018

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT I Case No. 2018AP1771-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ROBERT C. WASHINGTON,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction and an Order Denying Postconviction Relief, Both Entered in the Milwaukee County Circuit Court, the Honorable Jeffrey A. Wagner Presiding

> BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

> > LEON W. TODD Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1050407

Office of the State Public Defender 735 North Water Street, Suite 912 Milwaukee, WI 53202 (414) 227-4805 toddl@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

ISSUES PRESENTED

The State charged Robert Washington with first-degree reckless homicide for the shooting death of his son, R.W., and first-degree reckless injury for the shooting injuries to another son, W.W. According to W.W.'s statement to police, Mr. Washington retrieved a gun from their home after W.W. knocked him to the ground playing basketball. Mr. Washington then came back outside and starting shooting almost immediately.

Mr. Washington's account was quite different, however. According to Mr. Washington, he got the gun just to scare W.W. After he came back outside, Mr. Washington held the gun down by his side and did not point it at anyone. W.W., however, threw a basketball in his direction, causing the gun to go off accidentally.

Mr. Washington ultimately pled guilty to the charges of first-degree reckless homicide and firstdegree reckless injury. 1. Was defense counsel ineffective for failing to advise Mr. Washington about the possibility of requesting jury instructions at trial for lesserincluded offenses for the charge of first-degree reckless homicide?

The circuit court answered no.

2. Is Mr. Washington entitled to plea withdrawal on the grounds of newly discovered evidence consisting of W.W.'s statement acknowledging that he did, in fact, throw a basketball at Mr. Washington right before the gun went off?

The circuit court answered no.

3. Did defense counsel's failure to advocate on Mr. Washington's behalf in any meaningful way at sentencing constitute constructive denial of counsel? If not, did it otherwise constitute ineffective assistance of counsel?

The circuit court answered both questions no.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The briefs will fully address the issues presented, so Mr. Washington does not request oral argument. *See* Wis. Stat. § 809.22(2)(b). Publication is appropriate because the case involves a factual situation significantly different from other published Wisconsin cases involving ineffective assistance claims concerning lesser-included offense instructions. See id. \S 809.23(1)(a)2. While several cases have addressed whether an attorney may be ineffective for failing to request lesser-included offense instructions at trial, see, e.g., State v. *Kimbrough*, 2001 WI App 138, ¶24-36, 246 Wis. 2d 648, 630 N.W.2d 752; State v. Ambuehl, 145 Wis. 2d 343, 353-60, 425 N.W.2d 649 (Ct. App. 1988), there are no published cases addressing whether an attorney may be ineffective for failing to advise a client about this possibility before the client enters a guilty plea. Publication is also appropriate because of further development the law regarding constructive denial of counsel would be useful. See Wis. Stat. § 809.23(1)(a)1.

STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

A. The allegations of the criminal complaint.

On June 30, 2014, the State filed a criminal complaint charging Mr. Washington with one count of first-degree reckless homicide and one count of first-degree reckless injury, both while using a dangerous weapon. (1:1). The complaint alleged that on June 26, 2014, police were dispatched to Mr. Washington's home in the City of Glendale. There, they observed Mr. Washington's sons, R.W. and W.W., lying in the driveway. W.W., who was fifteen at the time, had been shot in the leg,¹ and R.W., who was twenty, had been shot in the chest. R.W. died as a result of his injury. (1:2-3; 76:1).

W.W. later told police that Mr. Washington shot him and his brother, R.W. W.W. said he was playing basketball with R.W. when Mr. Washington came out of the house and got in the way of their game. W.W. knocked Mr. Washington to the ground in response. According to W.W., Mr. Washington then got up and went back in the house. A short time later, he came back out with a gun and fired two or three shots, striking W.W. in the leg. R.W., who was cutting the grass at that point, ran over to Mr. Washington, and W.W. heard another shot. W.W. then went into the house and called 911. (1:2; 48:23).

The police reports upon which the complaint was based reflect that W.W. gave two statements to police. In both statements, W.W. told police that Mr. Washington started shooting almost immediately after he came back out with the gun. He also never

¹ The complaint alleges that W.W. was shot twice, once in the thigh and once in the calf. (1:2). It actually appears, however, that W.W. was only shot once. The surgeon at Children's Hospital who treated W.W. "stated that it could have been one shot that went in through the front of the thigh, out the back, then into the calf." (77:3). Also, police recovered only two shell casings at the scene. (48:33, 39).

said that he threw a basketball at Mr. Washington before the gun going off. (76:1; 77:3).²

The complaint further alleged that after his arrest, Mr. Washington gave a statement to police, which the State asserted was reliable because it was against his penal interest. (1:2). Mr. Washington said that he was playing basketball with his sons, when W.W. knocked him down "like a football player." (1:3). He further stated that he was being bullied and disrespected in his own house by his wife and children. He said he did not know what to do about the bullying, and this incident "was the last (1:2). After getting straw." knocked down, Mr. Washington got up, went in the house, and got a .45 caliber pistol from his bedroom. He then went back outside. (1:3).

According to the complaint, Mr. Washington said that after he went back outside, W.W. "threw the basketball at R.W. He stated that the gun then went off." (1:3). The police report summarizing Mr. Washington's statement reflects that he gave the following account of what happened after he went back outside:

> Washington said he went outside with the gun in his hand, but held down to his side. He said that he then told [W.W.], "Look. I'm tired of you

 $^{^2}$ These police reports were later admitted into evidence at the hearing on Mr. Washington's postconviction motion. (76; 77; 103:45;).

talking to me like that. But I didn't point the gun."....

Washington stated that [W.W.] is so strong, that he took the basketball and threw it at R.W.'s back, causing R.W. to be pushed forward into Washington. Washington stated that he was facing [R.W.] and [W.W.] and that [R.W.] was directly between him and [W.W.] Washington told me that after [R.W.] was struck in the back with the basketball he was thrown forward into Washington causing them both to fall backward. While falling, Washington stated the gun went off.

(76:3-4).

B. The plea and sentencing hearings.

On October 27, 2014, Mr. Washington pled guilty to first-degree reckless homicide and firstdegree reckless injury. (101:11). Pursuant to the parties' plea agreement, the State agreed to dismiss the weapon enhancers for both counts. The agreement also provided that both sides would be free to argue for any sentence they deemed appropriate at sentencing.³ (101:2-3). The Honorable

³ At the plea hearing, the Assistant District Attorney explained that he had originally offered to recommend either twenty years of initial confinement or "substantial confinement." However, Mr. Washington's trial attorney, Robert L. Taylor, told the prosecutor that he and Mr. Washington preferred that the plea deal simply provide that both sides be free to argue. (101:3-4). Undersigned (continued)

Jeffrey A. Wagner presided over the plea hearing. (101).

On December 2, 2014, Judge Wagner conducted Mr. Washington's sentencing hearing. The State recommended substantial confinement without specifying an exact duration. (102:9; App. 109). The prosecutor described the events leading up to shooting consistently with W.W.'s statements to police, asserting that Mr. Washington had started shooting almost immediately after he came back outside with the gun. (102:4; App. 104). The prosecutor also asserted that Mr. Washington's account of the shooting was not credible, stating that "[g]uns just don't go off." (102:5; App. 105).

The sentencing argument of defense counsel, Robert L. Taylor, consisted of only three pages of the sentencing transcript. (102:20-23; App. 120-23). Mr. Taylor began his argument by noting that R.W. "was an extremely, extremely, very pleasant young man. . . . He was just a good person." (102:21; App. 121). After that, Mr. Taylor highlighted the tragic nature of the offense, as well as Mr. Washington's culpability, stating:

> This is a very, very, very tragic incident. And Mr. Washington is responsible for that. There's no two ways about it. I don't care what the hell he says why he did it. It's totally unacceptable.

counsel can conceive of no possible strategic or rational reason why Mr. Taylor would advise his client to agree to such a deal. This Court's not going to accept it. Our community won't accept it. And I don't accept it.

The point is, you don't bring a damn gun to a family dispute, period. Period. That's something Mr. Washington is going to have to live with.

(102:21; App. 121).

Mr. Taylor then briefly noted that his client, who was fifty-eight years old at the time, had "a number of physical and mental ailments"; however, he provided no context or details about those ailments during his argument.⁴ (102:21; App. 121) Instead, he returned to emphasizing the tragic nature of the offense:

> It's a very, very tragic event that's going to last forever. And I don't know how the heck [Mr. Washington's wife is] going to get over it and get through it, but I'm sure she will.

(102:21-22; App. 121-22).

Next, after briefly describing some of the general sentencing goals a court must consider, Mr. Taylor said, "for a just sentence, there's a message that needs to be sent." (102:22; App. 122). He then emphasized the misguided nature of

⁴ Prior to sentencing, Mr. Taylor submitted Mr. Washington's medical records from the local jail. (15; 16). At sentencing, the circuit court noted that it had reviewed these materials, which reflected "the physical condition of [Mr. Washington]." (102:24-25; App. 124-25).

Mr. Washington's actions again:

Had he not made that one—probably several, but one specifically bad, bad choice of going to get that damn gun, we wouldn't be here today.

. . . .

I do understand that kids can sometimes get on your nerve. It's very challenging. But nothing raises [sic] to the occasion to bring a weapon into the equation here. And I regret that happening. My client regrets that happened.

(102:22-23; App. 122-23).

Mr. Taylor then gave the following concluding remarks:

With respect to a sentencing recommendation, Judge, I think the PSI writer tried to document it as best she could with respect to the factors that the Court must use that would help the Court consider.

Like the assistant district attorney, I'm going to punt. I think this Court, this assistant district attorney and myself, represent over a hundred years of legal experience. Thank you.

(102:23; App. 123).

During his allocution, Mr. Washington apologized to his family, and especially to his sons R.W. and W.W., for his poor judgment. He also expressed how truly sorry he was and emphasized that he had loved R.W. from the moment he was born. (102:23-24; App. 123-24).

The circuit court began its sentencing explanation by noting that this was a particularly aggravated offense that warranted a significant prison sentence. (102:26-27; App. 126-27). The court said it was taking into account Mr. Washington's culpability and remorse, as well as his age, educational and employment history, and prior criminal record. (102:27-28; App. 127-28). Regarding the facts of the case, the court stated:

> [T]he facts are pretty well known. That there's this basketball game going on. Words exchanged. You made a choice. You thought your kids were disrespecting you. And you went in and tried to stop that.

> And there are just numerous things through that presentence report which indicate to the Court that, you know, bullying was involved or something of that nature. And that you just couldn't take it anymore. And decided that you were going to just end it. For what reason?

(102:28; App. 128). The court further noted that Mr. Washington's social and family history, prior criminal record, and medical history were described in the presentence investigation report (PSI). (102:28-29; App. 128-29).

Shortly thereafter, the court made the following concluding remarks and imposed sentence:

So taking everything into consideration and based upon those factors the Court must take

into consideration upon sentencing you—and I know that you're 58 years old. And, you know, quite frankly, you're going to have to serve a significant amount of time incarcerated in the state institution because of the—of what occurred. It did shock the community. Any act like that would. It's an incredible set of facts, as the state says.

(102:30; App. 130).

On the charge of first-degree reckless homicide, the court sentenced Mr. Washington to thirty-two years of initial confinement and eight years of extended supervision. On the first-degree reckless injury charge, the court imposed a consecutive sentence of nine years of initial confinement and three years of extended supervision. (102:30-31; App. 130-31).

C. The postconviction proceedings.

Mr. filed Rule Washington а 809.30 postconviction motion seeking plea withdrawal on the grounds that Mr. Taylor was ineffective for failing to advise him about the possibility of requesting jury instructions at trial for lesser-included offenses with respect to the charge of first-degree reckless homicide. (48:1, 9-14). In the alternative, he asked for a resentencing hearing on the grounds that Mr. Taylor was ineffective for failing to advocate for him in any meaningful way at sentencing. (48:1, 14-20). The State filed a response brief in opposition (50), and Mr. Washington filed a reply brief (70).

Mr. Washington later filed a supplement to his postconviction motion alleging that Mr. Taylor was also ineffective for failing to interview W.W. and thus discover that he did, in fact, acknowledge throwing a basketball at Mr. Washington just before the gun the went off. (73:1,4-8). In alternative. Mr. Washington asserted that W.W.'s statement about throwing the basketball constituted newly discovered evidence warranting plea withdrawal. (73:1, 8-9).

At a hearing on the postconviction motion, Mr. Washington testified about the events of June 26, 2014. He explained that R.W. and W.W. were playing basketball outside their home, and he went outside to join them. After he took the basketball from W.W., however, "[W.W.] charged [him] like a football player, knocking [him] down very hard to the ground." (104:32). After getting knocked down, Mr. Washington initially could not get up. (104:32). He stated that "[W.W.] wasn't playing with [him]." He was "trying to really hurt [him]," he said. (104:33).

After that, Mr. Washington went back in the house and got his handgun. (104:34). He explained that W.W. had been physically and verbally bullying him for approximately six months. He also explained that he could not physically stand up for himself because of his frail condition. (104:33-34). Mr. Washington felt ashamed about this and did not know how to deal with the problem. (103:33). As he stated, "How do you tell someone that your son is bullying you?" (82:3). Mr. Washington therefore got the gun because he wanted to get W.W. to stop. (104:29, 33-34). It was not his intent to use the gun, however. He simply wanted to scare him. (104:34).

Mr. Washington further testified that after he went back outside, he never pointed the gun at anyone. Rather, he held it down by his side. (104:35). Upon seeing the gun, W.W. turned and ran away. (104:35). Mr. Washington then went over to talk to R.W. W.W., however, suddenly came back and threw a basketball at Mr. Washington. (104:35-36). The ball hit R.W. in the back, causing him to fall into Mr. Washington. At that point, Mr. Washington fell and the gun accidentally went off. (104:35-37).

At the time of the shooting, Mr. Washington's blood alcohol content was 0.154. (80; 104:4).

Mr. Washington also stated that he had explained these facts to Mr. Taylor during the pendency of the case. (104:37-38). Mr. Taylor, however, never informed him about the possibility of requesting instructions at trial for lesser-included offenses for the charge of first-degree reckless homicide. Mr. Washington was thus completely unaware of this possibility at the time he entered his pleas. (104:38-39). In fact, he testified that at the time of his pleas, he did not know even know what a lesser-included offense was. (104:38).

Accordingly, Mr. Washington did not know that based on the expected evidence at a trial, he could have asked the court to instruct the jury to also consider whether he was guilty of the following lesser-included offenses: (1) second-degree reckless homicide, contrary to Wis. Stat. \S 940.06(1); (2) homicide by intoxicated use of a firearm, contrary to Wis. Stat. \S 940.09(1g)(a) or (b); and (3) homicide by negligent handling of a dangerous weapon, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 940.08(1). (104:41-44). Nor did he know what the maximum potential sentences were for these lesser-included offenses. (104:41-44).Instead, he thought a jury's only options at a trial would have been to either find him guilty or not guilty of the charged offenses. (104:41-42).

Mr. Washington testified that had he known about the possibility of going to trial and requesting instructions for these lesser-included offenses, he would not have pled guilty and would have insisted on going to trial. (104:42-45). He also stated that he would have testified at trial to explain what had happened. He also would have instructed his attorney to request instructions for any available lesser-included offenses. He explained that he would have done this because he wanted to limit his exposure to potential incarceration as much as possible. (104:42-45).

At the hearing, Mr. Taylor testified that he had, in fact, advised Mr. Washington about the possibility of requesting lesser-included offense instructions at trial. (103:12-20). As he explained it, he visited Mr. Washington nineteen times in the jail and discussed "every aspect of going to trial in this particular case, which included lesser-includeds."

(103:13).Mr. Taylor was less than 100% certain, which however. about specific lesser-included offenses he had actually discussed with Mr. Washington. When asked if he had discussed the lesser-included offense of second-degree reckless homicide, Mr. Taylor stated, "I do not recall, but probably so. I mean, I can't recall every detail, but probably so." (103:17). Regarding homicide by intoxicated use of a firearm, he stated that he had discussed that with Mr. Washington; however, "Mr. Washington stated to me he was not intoxicated and that was not what he wanted to do." (103:18-19). Finally, regarding the lesser-included offense of homicide by negligent handling of a dangerous weapon, Mr. Taylor stated, "we discussed every possibility. I can't recall exactly specifically." (103:19).

Mr. Taylor also testified that Mr. Washington was adamant about not wanting to go to trial because he wanted to accept responsibility, adding that Mr. Washington's "whole focus was on trying to explain why he did what he did." (103:14).

After the hearing, however, Mr. Taylor sent a letter to the court explaining that he did *not* actually recall discussing the option of requesting lesserincluded offense instructions at trial with Mr. Washington. (84; App. 141-43). Specifically, Mr. Taylor stated that after the hearing, he had reviewed his file for this case and "do[es] not have any specific notes regarding this subject," i.e., discussions with Mr. Washington about lesserincluded instructions. (84:1; App. 141). He also stated, "I do not recall if I specifically, addressed the issue of proposed lessor included Wisconsin Jury Instructions after a Jury Trial proceedings with Mr. Washington." (84:1; App. 141). This letter was admitted into evidence as Exhibit 6 pursuant to a stipulation by the parties. (87).

W.W. also testified at the hearing. He admitted that he intentionally knocked his father over playing basketball, stating: "I ran over my father, like, really hard." (104:11-12). W.W. testified that Mr. Washington then went in the house and came back out a short time later with a gun. (104:13-15). He said that Mr. Washington walked up to him and pointed the gun in his direction. (104:14-15). W.W. also said that when he saw the gun, he threw the basketball at his father and turned around and ran to their neighbor's house. (104:15-16, 18). He then heard the gun go off multiple times. (104:16).

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