## **RECEIVED**

## STATE OF WISCONSIN 03-11-2019

# COURT OF APPEAL SCLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2018AP1771-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ROBERT C. WASHINGTON,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, BOTH ENTERED IN MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE JEFFREY A. WAGNER, PRESIDING

### RESPONSE BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

SCOTT E. ROSENOW Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1083736

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

Washington's first claim of ineffective assistance fails under those principles. At the *Machner* hearing, Washington testified that Attorney Taylor had not discussed with him the possibility of going to trial and requesting jury instructions on lesser-included offenses. (R. 104:38–44.) But the circuit court found "the testimony of defendant Robert Washington to not be credible." (R. 90:3; *see also* R. 92:2.) That credibility finding

disposes of this claim of ineffective assistance. This Court is not empowered to reverse that credibility finding. Without any credible evidence to support his claim, Washington has failed to meet his burden of proof at the *Machner* hearing.

Further, Washington's ineffective assistance claim fails even if this Court reviews the circuit court's factual findings and credibility determinations. Again, Washington had the burden of proving at the *Machner* hearing that Attorney Taylor did not discuss lesser-included offenses with him. *See Burton*, 349 Wis. 2d 1, ¶¶ 7, 89. The State did not have a burden of proving that such a discussion took place. In any event, the State met that nonexistent burden, the circuit court's factual findings support this conclusion, and those findings are not clearly erroneous.

At the *Machner* hearing, Attorney Taylor testified that he had advised Washington before the plea hearing that they could have requested jury instructions on lesser-included offenses at trial. (R. 103:13, 14–15, 17, 18.) Attorney Taylor did not remember specifics about the discussion on lesserincluded offenses. (R. 103:13, 17.) Attorney Taylor remembered discussing the possibility of requesting a lesserincluded instruction on homicide by intoxicated use of a firearm, but Washington had said "that he was not intoxicated" during the shooting. (R. 103:18.) Attorney Taylor did not specifically remember discussing the lesser-included offense of second-degree reckless homicide, but he testified that he had "probably" discussed it with Washington. (R. 103:17.) When Attorney Taylor was asked whether he had discussed with Washington the lesser-included offense of homicide by negligent handling of a firearm, he said that they had "discussed every possibility. I can't recall exactly specifically." (R. 103:19.) The circuit court found "the testimony of Attorney Taylor to be credible." (R. 90:3; see also R. 92:2.)

Yet Washington argues that the circuit court's findings were clearly erroneous because Attorney Taylor's letter "corrected his testimony." (Washington's Br. 23.) Washington is wrong to suggest that Attorney Taylor's letter was a recantation of his Machner hearing testimony. At the Machner hearing, the court asked Attorney Taylor to look through his file for relevant information. (R. 103:53.) Attorney Taylor stated in his letter that he was responding to that request. (R. 84:1.) Attorney Taylor noted that he had been asked to provide "specific notes" about lesser-included offenses and that he did "not recall if [he] specifically" lesser-included offenses with addressed Washington. (R. 84:1.) But Attorney Taylor reiterated that he had met with Washington 19 times and that they had "exhaustively discussed every aspect of a possible jury trial as well as all sentencing possibilities and court proceedings." (R. 84:1.) "[R]easonable inferences drawn from the evidence can support a finding of fact." State v. Gomez, 179 Wis. 2d 400, 406, 507 N.W.2d 378 (Ct. App. 1993) (citation omitted). The circuit court could reasonably infer from this letter that Attorney Taylor and Washington had discussed jury instructions on lesser-included offenses, although Attorney Taylor did not remember the specifics of that discussion.

Washington's contrary arguments have no merit.

First, Washington argues that, because Attorney Taylor's letter is documentary evidence, this Court should review the letter de novo rather than reviewing the circuit court's findings for clear error. (Washington's Br. 22, 24.) Washington is wrong. "[W]here the underlying facts are in dispute, the circuit court resolves that dispute by exercising its fact-finding function, and its findings are subject to the clearly erroneous standard of review even if they are based solely on documentary evidence." Phelps v. Physicians Ins. Co. of Wis., 2009 WI 74, ¶ 38 n.10, 319 Wis. 2d 1, 768 N.W.2d 615 (emphases added). The so-called "documentary evidence

exception' to the clearly erroneous standard of review" does not apply in that situation. Id. Instead, "the documentary evidence exception applies to inferences the circuit court draws from 'established or undisputed facts' based solely on a documentary record." Id. An appellate court thus "normally" reviews de novo "the sufficiency of documentary evidence," such as the sufficiency of a criminal complaint. Id. ¶ 37 n.9. But an appellate court applies the clear-error standard when reviewing the circuit court's resolution of a disputed factual issue. Id. ¶ 38 n.10. This Court thus owes deference to the circuit court's factual findings, even if they were partly based on Attorney Taylor's letter.

Second, Washington argues that the circuit court ignored Attorney Taylor's letter. (Washington's Br. 23–24.) But Washington has not explained how this omission, even if true, would make the circuit court's findings clearly erroneous. In any event, the circuit court mentioned the letter twice in its postconviction decision. (R. 92:1-2.) Washington also faults the circuit court for not "say[ing] why it thought Mr. Taylor's in-court testimony should trump his later written statements" and for not "offer[ing] any alternative interpretation about the letter's meaning." (Washington's Br. 23.) The most likely explanation is that the circuit court did not think that the letter could plausibly be interpreted as a recantation of Attorney Taylor's testimony. And a circuit court is not required to explain its findings and credibility determinations. See State v. Young, 2009 WI App 22, ¶¶ 18– 20, 316 Wis. 2d 114, 762 N.W.2d 736.

Third, Washington argues that the evidence was "effectively uncontradicted" that Attorney Taylor had not advised him about possible jury instructions on lesser-included offenses. (Washington's Br. 22.) Washington is wrong for the reasons stated above. Attorney Taylor's testimony and letter, as well as reasonable inferences from those two things, support the circuit court's finding that

Attorney Taylor had advised Washington on lesser-included instructions.

Even if Washington is correct that the evidence was uncontradicted, he still would not be entitled to relief on this ineffective assistance claim. "A trial court can properly reject even uncontroverted testimony if it finds the facts underpinning the testimony are untrue." State v. Kimbrough, 2001 WI App 138, ¶ 29, 246 Wis. 2d 648, 630 N.W.2d 752. This principle is well-established. See, e.g., State v. Krieger, 163 Wis. 2d 241, 256–57, 471 N.W.2d 599 (Ct. App. 1991) (rejecting the argument "that the trial court erred in not considering the uncontradicted evidence," because "the finder of fact is free to disbelieve the evidence presented by either side"); Laribee v. Laribee, 138 Wis. 2d 46, 52 & n.1, 405 N.W.2d 679 (Ct. App. 1987) (noting that a circuit court may reject "uncontradicted testimony" that it expressly finds incredible). The circuit court expressly found Washington's Machner hearing testimony not credible. (R. 90:3; see also R. 92:2.) The court was not required to believe Washington's testimony, even if it was uncontradicted about lesser-included offenses.

And, to reiterate, Washington had the burden of proof at the *Machner* hearing. He cannot meet that burden because the circuit court found incredible the testimony on which this claim of ineffective assistance relies. Washington has not even tried to explain how he could meet his burden of proof without any credible evidence to support his claim. Even if Washington's *Machner* hearing testimony about lesser-included offenses was uncontradicted, he failed to meet his burden of proof because the circuit court found his testimony incredible.

In short, Washington's first claim of ineffective assistance has no merit because it conflicts with the circuit court's factual findings and credibility determinations.

# C. In any event, counsel was not required to advise Washington about lesser-included offenses.

Even if Attorney Taylor had no discussion with Washington about jury instructions on lesser-included offenses, his performance was adequate for two reasons.

First, a lawyer has no clear duty to discuss possible jury instructions on lesser-included offenses during the plea stage. "[I]neffective assistance of counsel cases should be limited to situations where the law or duty is clear such that reasonable counsel should know enough to raise the issue." State v. Maloney, 2005 WI 74, ¶ 29, 281 Wis. 2d 595, 698 N.W.2d 583 (citation omitted). "At a plea hearing, a record is made to establish that a defendant enters his plea knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily. Trial counsel must provide enough information to a defendant that any plea is made with a constitutionally-required degree of understanding and willingness." Burton, 349 Wis. 2d 1, ¶ 65. A defendant is not required to be aware of lesser-included offenses for his guilty plea to be knowing, intelligent, and voluntary. See State v. Duychak, 133 Wis. 2d 307, 314–15, 395 N.W.2d 795 (Ct. App. 1986). It follows that a criminal defense lawyer need not advise a client about lesser-included offenses before a guilty plea.

Attorney Taylor thus performed adequately even if he failed to inform Washington about possible jury instructions on lesser-included offenses. An attorney has no clear duty to discuss this issue with a client before a guilty plea.

Second, even if such a duty might exist in some cases, Attorney Taylor had no such duty under the facts of this case. "The reasonableness of counsel's actions may be determined or substantially influenced by the defendant's own statements or actions." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 691. As explained in Attorney Taylor's letter, "Washington was adamant in his

desire to not have a [j]ury trial on this matter . . . because of the additional pain a [j]ury [t]rial would cause his family." (R. 84:1–2.) Attorney Taylor similarly testified that "Washington adamantly wanted to go to have a plea in this matter" and "didn't want to go to trial." (R. 103:14, 15.) Given Washington's adamant desire to plead guilty and avoid a trial, it would have been reasonable for Attorney Taylor not to discuss possible jury instructions on lesser charges at trial.

Washington argues that a lawyer has a duty to advise a client about lesser-included offenses before a guilty plea. He relies on an American Bar Association (ABA) Model Rule about advising clients as well as non-binding federal cases holding that an attorney performed deficiently at trial by not requesting instructions on lesser-included offenses. (Washington's Br. 28–29.) But this ABA Model Rule does not mention lesser-included offenses, and, in any event, "the Constitution does not codify the ABA's Model Rules." *Montejo v. Louisiana*, 556 U.S. 778, 790 (2009).

The federal cases on which Washington relies are not analogous to his situation. The better analogy is that a lawyer need not consult with a defendant before declining to request instructions on lesser-included offenses at trial. See, e.g., State v. Eckert, 203 Wis. 2d 497, 509–11, 553 N.W.2d 539 (Ct. App. 1996); see also State v. Ambuehl, 145 Wis. 2d 343, 355–56, 425 N.W.2d 649 (Ct. App. 1988) (holding that a lawyer need not discuss lesser-included instructions with a defendant multiple times at trial, rejecting ABA Model Rule commentary stating that a defendant gets to decide whether to request such instructions). Washington has failed to show that Attorney Taylor violated a clear duty if he did not discuss lesser-included instructions.

Washington also argues that Attorney Taylor performed deficiently because his failure to discuss lesser-included instructions "resulted from oversight rather than a reasoned defense strategy." (Washington's Br. 30.) But even

if an attorney's act or omission resulted from oversight, a court must still determine whether it would have had a reasonable basis had it been a strategic decision. See Kimbrough, 246 Wis. 2d 648,  $\P\P$  31–32; see also Murray v. Carrier, 477 U.S. 478, 488, 492 (1986) (noting that the distinction between an attorney's oversight and strategic miscalculation is "tenuous" and has "uncertain dimensions"). "The relevant question is not whether counsel's choices were strategic, but whether they were reasonable." Roe v. Flores-Ortega, 528 U.S. 470, 481 (2000) (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688). "So, regardless of defense counsel's thought process, if counsel's conduct falls within what a reasonably competent defense attorney could have done, then it was not deficient performance." State v. Jackson, 2011 WI App 63, ¶ 9, 333 Wis. 2d 665, 799 N.W.2d 461. Even if Attorney Taylor did not discuss lesser-included instructions with Washington due to an oversight, that omission was reasonable because of Washington's adamant desire to avoid a trial to spare his family more pain.

To be sure, "ineffective assistance can consist of counsel's conduct that 'resulted from inattention, not reasoned strategic judgment." *State v. McDowell*, 2003 WI App 168, ¶ 62, 266 Wis. 2d 599, 669 N.W.2d 204 (quoting *Wiggins v. Smith*, 539 U.S. 510, 534 (2003)), *aff'd*, 2004 WI 70, 272 Wis. 2d 488, 681 N.W.2d 500. But saying that an oversight *can be* ineffective assistance does not mean that it necessarily *is* ineffective assistance.

In sum, Washington's first claim of ineffective assistance fails because he has not met his burden of proving that Attorney Taylor never discussed lesser-included instructions with him. And even if Washington met that burden, his claim still fails because Attorney Taylor had no clear duty to discuss lesser-included instructions and because his failure to discuss this issue was reasonable under the facts of this case.

### D. Washington has not proven prejudice.

Further, even if it was deficient performance, Attorney Taylor's alleged failure to discuss lesser-included instructions did not prejudice the defense. "In the context of guilty pleas," "in order to satisfy the 'prejudice' requirement, the defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, he would not have pleaded guilty and would have insisted on going to trial." Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52, 58–59 (1985). Washington would have pled guilty regardless of whether he knew about the possibility of requesting lesserincluded instructions at trial. Again, "Washington was adamant in his desire to not have a [j]ury trial on this matter . . . because of the additional pain a [j]ury [t]rial would cause his family." (R. 84:1–2.) In exchange for Washington's guilty pleas, the State agreed to dismiss a weapon-related sentence enhancer. (R. 101:2; 103:7.) And courts often give lighter sentences to defendants who plead guilty compared to defendants who get convicted of the same crimes after trial. *Provo*, 272 Wis. 2d 837, ¶ 18.

So, Washington's guilty pleas allowed him to try to minimize his sentence while not causing his family the pain of going through a trial. Had he gone to trial, there was a chance that the jury would have convicted him of the offenses charged, including the sentence enhancer—and he would have lost the hope for sentence leniency that often comes with guilty pleas. Given his adamant desire not to put his family through the stress of a trial, the possibility of being convicted of a lesser-included offense at trial would not have motivated Washington to insist on going to trial.

Washington argues that his desire to get a reduced charge shows that he would have insisted on going to trial in the hope of getting a conviction for a lesser-included offense. (Washington's Br. 31–32.) That logic does not hold up. Unlike going to trial, getting a reduced charge during the plea-

bargaining stage carried no risk of conviction on a greater offense. And a charge reduction would not have put Washington's family through the ordeal of a trial—stress that he did not want to cause.

In a footnote, Washington argues that "the procedural history of the case"—specifically, this case being set for trial—shows that he wanted to go to trial. (Washington's Br. 33 n.6.) But an argument is forfeited if it is raised only in a footnote. State v. Santana-Lopez, 2000 WI App 122, ¶ 6 n.4, 237 Wis. 2d 332, 613 N.W.2d 918. In any event, that argument has no merit. Attorney Taylor explained that the case had been set for trial so that he would have more time to "review discovery in greater detail" and "do more negotiations" with the prosecutor. (R. 103:48.)

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